



SPONSOR: Sen. Henry & Sen. Lopez & Rep. Jaques &  
Rep. Longhurst & Rep. K. Williams  
Sens. Hansen, Richardson; Reps. Bentz, Paradee, Viola,  
Wilson

DELAWARE STATE SENATE  
149th GENERAL ASSEMBLY

SENATE BILL NO. 102

AN ACT TO AMEND TITLE 14 AND TITLE 29 OF THE DELAWARE CODE RELATING TO NON-ACADEMIC TRAINING AND RELATED RESOURCES.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE:

1 Section 1. Amend Chapter 41, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
2 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

3 Chapter 41. ~~General~~ Regulatory Provisions.

4 Section 2. Further amend Chapter 41, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by designating §§ 4101 through 4137 as part  
5 of a new Subchapter I by making deletions as shown by strike through and insertions as shown by underline as follows:

6 Subchapter I. General Regulatory Provisions.

7 Section 3. Further amend Chapter 41, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike  
8 through and insertions as shown by underline as follows:

9 Subchapter II. Regulatory Provisions for Non-Academic Training and Related Resources.

10 Section 4. Amend Subchapter I, Chapter 41, Title 14 of the Delaware Code and Subchapter II, Chapter 41, Title 14  
11 of the Delaware Code by transferring §§ 4112D, 4112E, 4123C, and 4124 of Subchapter I, Chapter 41, Title 14 to  
12 Subchapter II, Chapter 41, Title 14 and by redesignating §§ 4112D, 4112E, 4123C, and 4124 of Subchapter I, Chapter 41,  
13 Title 14 as §§ 4164, 4166, 4163, and 4165 of Subchapter II, Chapter 41, Title 14, respectively.

14 Section 5. Further amend Subchapter II, Chapter 41, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown  
15 by strike through and insertions as shown by underline as follows:

16 § 4161. Definitions.

17 For purposes of this subchapter:

18 (1) “Bullying” means any intentional written, electronic, verbal, or physical act against another student, a  
19 school district or charter school volunteer, or a school district or charter school employee that a reasonable person  
20 under the circumstances should know will have any of the following effects:

21 a. Place a student, school district or charter school volunteer, or school district or charter school employee  
22 in reasonable fear of substantial harm to the student's, volunteer's, or employee's emotional or physical well-being  
23 or substantial damages to the student's, volunteer's, or employee's property.

24 b. Create a hostile, threatening, humiliating, or abusive educational environment due to the pervasiveness  
25 or persistence of actions or due to a power differential between the bully and the target.

26 c. Interfere with a student having a safe school environment that is necessary to facilitate educational  
27 performance, opportunities, or benefits.

28 d. Perpetuate bullying by inciting, soliciting, or coercing an individual or group to demean, dehumanize,  
29 embarrass, or cause emotional, psychological, or physical harm to another student, school district or charter school  
30 volunteer, or school district or charter school employee.

31 (2) "Charter school" means a public school established under Chapter 5 of this title.

32 (3) "Child abuse" means causing or inflicting any of the following on a child:

33 a. Sexual abuse.

34 b. Serious physical injury or death, or physical injury through unjustified force not permitted under § 468  
35 of Title 11. For purposes of this paragraph (3)b. of this section, "serious physical injury" and "physical injury"  
36 mean as defined in § 222 of Title 11.

37 c. Emotional abuse.

38 d. Torture.

39 e. Exploitation.

40 f. Maltreatment or mistreatment.

41 (4) "Child sexual abuse", "sexual abuse", or "sexually abused" means the commission of any act that is listed  
42 in the definition of sexual offense in § 761 of Title 11.

43 (5) "Criminal youth gang" means as defined in § 617(a) of Title 11.

44 (6) "Parent" means a natural parent, an adoptive parent, any person legally charged with the care or custody of  
45 a student under 18 years of age, or any person who has assumed responsibility for the care of a student under 18 years  
46 of age including any person acting as a caregiver pursuant to the provisions of § 202(f) of this title.

47 (7) "Personal body safety" means understanding the difference between appropriate and inappropriate  
48 touching and how to communicate inappropriate behavior to a trusted adult.

49           (8) “School district” means a clearly defined geographic subdivision of the State organized for the purpose of  
50 administering public education in that area and includes a district specifically created to administer a system of  
51 vocational or technical education.

52           (9) “School district and charter school employee,” “school district or charter school employee,” or  
53 “employee” means all individuals, including teachers, school administrators, school support personnel, instructional  
54 aides, nurses, school counselors, coaches, custodial staff, and nutrition staff, hired by a school district or charter school  
55 or a program established under Chapter 16 of this title, who provide services to students on a regular, ongoing basis.  
56 “School district and charter school employee,” “school district or charter school employee,” or “employee” does not  
57 include contractors or subcontractors, such as bus drivers or security guards; substitute employees; and individuals  
58 hired by or subcontracted by other state agencies to work on school property.

59           (10) “Sexual assault” means any unwanted sexual behavior committed by a perpetrator who is a stranger to  
60 the victim or by a perpetrator who is known by the victim or related to the victim by blood or marriage. “Sexual  
61 assault” includes the following behaviors: sexual harassment, as defined in § 763 of Title 11; sexual contact, as defined  
62 in § 761 Title 11; sexual intercourse, as defined in § 761 of Title 11; sexual penetration, as defined in § 761 of Title 11;  
63 and sexual abuse.

64           (11) “Teen dating violence” means assaultive, threatening, or controlling behavior, including stalking as  
65 defined in § 1312 of Title 11, that one person uses against another person in order to gain or maintain power or control  
66 in a current or past relationship and can occur in both heterosexual and same sex relationships and in serious or casual  
67 relationships.

68           § 4162. Child safety awareness, prevention, and other non-academic trainings.

69           (a) Each school district and charter school shall require its employees to receive 12.5 hours of training every 3  
70 years consisting of all of the following:

71           (1) 3 hours of a child abuse and child safety awareness, prevention, detection, and reporting training program  
72 established under § 4163(b)(1) of this title.

73           (2) 3 hours of a school bullying prevention and criminal youth gang detection training program established  
74 under § 4164(a) of this title.

75           (3) 4.5 hours of a suicide prevention training program established under § 4165(a) of this title, with each  
76 school district and charter school employee receiving 90 minutes of such training each year.

77           (4) 2 hours of additional, non-academic training programs that are evidence-based, whenever available, and  
78 are related to a training subject required by this subchapter, as selected by the school district or charter school.

79           (b) Each school district and charter school shall require a school administrator, school nurse, or school counselor  
80 serving one or more of the grades in grade 7 through 12 to receive 2 hours of a teen dating violence and sexual assault  
81 training program established under § 4166(a) of this title every 3 years. This training may be included in paragraph (a)(4) of  
82 this section.

83           (c) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, a school district or charter school shall require all of the  
84 following:

85           (1) That a new school district or charter school employee receive 1 hour of a child abuse detection and  
86 reporting training program established under § 4163(b)(1) of this title within 30 days of employment with the school  
87 district or charter school, unless the new school district or charter school employee received such training within the  
88 last year.

89           (2) That a new school administrator, school nurse, or school counselor serving one or more of the grades in  
90 grade 7 through 12 in a school district or charter school receive 2 hours of a teen dating violence and sexual assault  
91 training program established under § 4166(a) of this title within 1 year of employment in such position.

92           (d) A school district or charter school shall provide any in-service training required under this section within the  
93 contracted school year as provided in § 1305(e) of this title.

94           (e) A school district or charter school may provide the trainings required under this section to any of its volunteers  
95 or contractors.

96           § 4123C § 4163. ~~Personal body safety and child sexual abuse awareness and prevention~~ Child abuse and child  
97 safety awareness, prevention, detection, and reporting.

98           (a) ~~For purposes of this section: [Repealed.]~~

99           (1) ~~“Child sexual abuse,” “sexual abuse,” or “sexually abused” means the commission of any act that is listed~~  
100 ~~in the definition of “sexual offense” in § 761 of Title 11.~~

101           (2) ~~“Parent” means natural parent, adoptive parent, any person legally charged with the care or custody of a~~  
102 ~~student under 18 years of age, or any person who has assumed responsibility for the care of a student under 18 years of~~  
103 ~~age including any person acting as a caregiver pursuant to the provisions of § 202(f) of this title.~~

104           (3) ~~“Personal body safety” means understanding the difference between appropriate and inappropriate~~  
105 ~~touching and how to communicate inappropriate behavior to a trusted adult.~~

106           (4) ~~“School district” includes charter schools and vocational technical school districts.~~

107           (b) Educational programming. - The Child Protection Accountability Commission and the Division of Family  
108 Services of the Department of Services for Children, Youth, and Their Families shall ~~develop and maintain a curriculum~~

109 identify and maintain educational programming to be used by each school district and charter school for ~~educating public~~  
110 ~~school~~ informing school district and charter school employees, students, and parents about personal body safety and ~~child~~  
111 ~~sexual abuse~~ child abuse and about how to detect and report child abuse. The ~~curriculum~~ educational programming must  
112 include all of the following:

113 (1) ~~Evidence-based training and education for public school employees who are employed at schools with any~~  
114 ~~of the grades pre-kindergarten through 6~~ Training and education for school district and charter school employees that is  
115 evidence-based, whenever available, in order to raise awareness of issues regarding personal body safety ~~and child~~  
116 ~~sexual abuse~~ safety, child abuse, and child safety. Such training and education must include the warning signs  
117 indicating that a child may be a victim of sexual abuse and other forms of child abuse, techniques for responding when  
118 ~~child sexual abuse~~ child abuse is suspected or disclosed, and the employee's mandatory reporting requirement under §  
119 903 of Title 16.

120 (2) Evidence-based, whenever available, age-appropriate instruction for students enrolled in grades pre-  
121 kindergarten through 6 that is related to personal body safety and ~~child sexual abuse~~ sexual abuse and other forms of  
122 child abuse. Such instruction shall include information on the difference between appropriate and inappropriate  
123 conduct and the actions that a child may take to be protected from sexual abuse and other forms of child abuse. Such  
124 instruction shall be designed to build on skills learned the previous year.

125 (3) Information for parents of students enrolled in grades pre-kindergarten through 6 on all of the following:  
126 a. Warning signs of a child who is being sexually abused or suffering from other forms of child abuse.  
127 b. Effective, age-appropriate methods for discussing personal body safety ~~and sexual abuse with a child~~  
128 and sexual abuse and other forms of child abuse with a child.  
129 c. Resources for reporting ~~child sexual abuse~~ child abuse.  
130 d. Counseling and other resources available to a child who has been ~~sexually abused~~ the victim of child  
131 abuse.

132 (c) Role of the Department of Education. - The Department of Education shall provide technical expertise to assist  
133 the Child Protection Accountability Commission and the Division of Family Services of the Department of Services for  
134 Children, Youth, and Their Families in their ~~development and maintenance of the curriculum~~ identification of educational  
135 programming under subsection (b) of this section and the Department of Education shall ~~provide the curriculum~~ make a list  
136 of the approved educational programing available to each school district and charter school.

137 (d) Implementation of training program. - Each school district and charter school shall implement the ~~curriculum~~  
138 ~~developed~~ educational programming provided under subsection (b) of this section as follows:

139 (1) The ~~curriculum-developed~~ educational programing provided under paragraph (b)(1) of this section shall  
140 must be provided to all of its employees ~~who are employed at schools with any of the grades pre-kindergarten through~~  
141 ~~6 through the district's existing professional development program and may be provided to the district's volunteers as~~  
142 required by § 4162 of this title.

143 (2) The ~~curriculum-developed~~ educational programing provided under paragraph (b)(2) of this section shall  
144 must be provided to all students enrolled in grades pre-kindergarten through 6 through health education programs or  
145 related classes.

146 (3) The ~~curriculum-developed~~ educational programing provided under paragraph (b)(3) of this section shall  
147 must be provided to parents of students enrolled in grades pre-kindergarten through 6 through written ~~materials~~  
148 materials, available online through the school district's or charter school's website or in hard copy upon a request by  
149 parents, on an annual basis and may be provided through live presentations.

150 (e) *Notification of parents.* - Prior to providing any instruction under paragraph (d)(2) of this section, each school  
151 district and charter school shall inform the parent of any student enrolled in grades pre-kindergarten through 6 in writing  
152 that the parent may examine and review the educational materials before the materials are taught.

153 (f) *Accountability.* -

154 (1) Each school district and charter school shall designate an individual responsible for overseeing the  
155 implementation of the ~~curriculum-developed~~ educational programing provided under subsection (b) of this section.  
156 Each school district and charter school shall provide the name and contact information for the individual designated  
157 under this subsection to the Department of Education no later than November 15 of each year.

158 (g) (2) Each individual designated under ~~subsection (f)~~ paragraph (f)(1) of this section shall report to the  
159 Department of Education no later than November 15 of each year how the ~~curriculum~~ educational programming has  
160 been implemented by that individual's school district or charter school.

161 (h) (3) The Department of Education shall submit a written report to the Governor, the members of the  
162 General Assembly, and the Director of the Division of Research no later than January 15 of each year. The report must  
163 include the ~~curriculum-developed~~ educational programing provided under subsection (b) of this section and how the  
164 curriculum has been implemented by each school district and charter school under subsection (d) of this section.

165 (g)(1) Each school in a school district and each charter school shall post, in a conspicuous location where notices  
166 to students are customarily posted, the number for the toll-free telephone report line for child abuse and neglect as  
167 established under § 905 of Title 16. The posting must be made in English and Spanish and must be made in a format and  
168 language that is clear, simple, and understandable to students.

169 (2) There is no private right of action for a violation of this subsection.

170 (h) *Short title.* – This section shall be known and may be cited as “Erin’s Law”.

171 § 4112D § 4164. School bullying awareness and prevention; criminal youth gang detection.

172 (a) *Definition of bullying.* — As used in this section, “bullying” means any intentional written, electronic, verbal or  
173 physical act or actions against another student, school volunteer or school employee that a reasonable person under the  
174 circumstances should know will have the effect of:

175 (1) Placing a student, school volunteer or school employee in reasonable fear of substantial harm to his or her  
176 emotional or physical well-being or substantial damages to his or her property; or

177 (2) Creating a hostile, threatening, humiliating or abusive educational environment due to the pervasiveness or  
178 persistence of actions or due to a power differential between the bully and the target; or

179 (3) Interfering with a student having a safe school environment that is necessary to facilitate educational  
180 performance, opportunities or benefits; or

181 (4) Perpetuating bullying by inciting, soliciting or coercing an individual or group to demean, dehumanize,  
182 embarrass or cause emotional, psychological or physical harm to another student, school volunteer or school employee.

183 School bullying prevention and criminal youth gang detection training program. - The Department of Justice and  
184 the Department of Education, in collaboration with law-enforcement agencies, the Delaware State Education Association,  
185 the Delaware School Boards Association, and the Delaware Association of School Administrators, shall identify and  
186 maintain a school bullying prevention and criminal youth gang detection training program for school district and charter  
187 school employees.

188 (b) *Prohibition of bullying.* —

189 (1) Each school district and charter school shall prohibit bullying and reprisal, ~~retaliation~~ retaliation, or false  
190 accusation against a target, ~~witness~~ witness, or one with reliable information about an act of bullying.

191 (2) Each school district and charter school shall establish a policy which, at a minimum, includes the  
192 following components:

193 a. A statement prohibiting bullying of any person on school property or at school functions or by use of  
194 data or computer software that is accessed through a computer, computer system, computer ~~network~~ network, or  
195 other electronic technology of a school district or charter school from kindergarten through grade 12. For purposes  
196 of this section, “school property” and “school functions” ~~have the same definition as~~ mean as defined in § 4112 of  
197 this title.

198 b. A definition of bullying no less inclusive than that in ~~subsection (a) of this section~~ § 4161 of this title.

199 c. Direction to develop a school-wide bullying prevention program.

200 d. A requirement that each school establish a site-based committee that is responsible for coordinating the

201 school's bully prevention program including the design, ~~approval~~ approval, and monitoring of the program. A

202 majority of the members of the site-based committee ~~shall~~ must be members of the school professional staff, of

203 which a majority ~~shall~~ must be instructional staff. The committee also shall contain representatives of the

204 administrative staff, support staff, student body (for a school enrolling students in grades 7 through 12), ~~parents~~

205 parents, and staff from the before- or after-school program or programs. These representatives shall be chosen by

206 members of each respective ~~group~~ group, except that the school principal shall appoint the representatives of the

207 nonemployee groups ~~shall be appointed by the school principal~~. The committee shall operate on a 1-person, 1-vote

208 principle. ~~In the event~~ If a site-based school discipline committee has been established ~~pursuant to~~ under §

209 1605(7)a. and b. of this title, that committee shall vote whether ~~or not~~ to accept the ~~aforementioned~~ responsibilities

210 of this paragraph (b)(2)d. of this section.

211 e. A requirement that any school district or charter school employee that has reliable information that

212 would lead a reasonable person to suspect that a person is a target of bullying ~~shall~~ must immediately report it to

213 the administration.

214 f. A requirement that each school have a procedure for the administration to promptly investigate in a

215 timely manner and determine whether bullying has occurred, and that such procedure include investigation of such

216 instances, including a determination of whether the target of the bullying was targeted or reports being targeted

217 wholly or in part due to the target's race, age, marital status, creed, religion, color, sex, disability, sexual

218 orientation, gender identity or expression, or national origin. This subsection does not preclude schools from

219 identifying other reasons or criteria why a person is a target of bullying.

220 g. A requirement that, to the extent that funding is available, each school develop a plan for a system of

221 supervision in nonclassroom areas. The plan ~~shall~~ must provide for the review and exchange of information

222 regarding nonclassroom areas.

223 h. An identification of an appropriate range of consequences for bullying.

224 i. A procedure for a student ~~and parent, guardian or relative caregiver pursuant to § 202(f) of this title or~~

225 legal guardian or parent to provide information on bullying activity. However, this paragraph does not permit

226 formal disciplinary action solely based on an anonymous report.

227 j. A requirement that a parent, ~~guardian or relative caregiver pursuant to § 202(f) of this title or legal~~

228 guardian of any target of bullying or ~~person who bullies another as defined herein, perpetrator of bullying~~ be



229 notified and provided with a form to be generated by the Department of Justice describing the role of the  
230 Department of Justice School Ombudsman and providing contact information. This form ~~shall also inform parents,~~  
231 ~~guardians, or relative caregivers of their~~ must also inform a parent of the parent's right to know when the bullying  
232 incident in question has been reported to the Department of Education ~~pursuant to~~ under paragraph (b)(2)k. of this  
233 section.

234 k. A requirement that all reported incidents of bullying, regardless of whether the school could  
235 substantiate the incident, be reported to the Department of Education within 5 working days ~~pursuant to~~ under  
236 Department of Education regulations. ~~The parents, guardians, or relative caregivers~~ The school shall notify a  
237 parent of all students involved in the reported incident ~~shall be notified~~ when the report is made.

238 l. A statement prohibiting retaliation following a report of bullying.

239 m. A procedure for communication between school staff members and medical professionals who are  
240 involved in treating students for bullying issues.

241 n. A requirement that the school bullying prevention program be implemented throughout the year, and  
242 integrated with the school's discipline policies and § 4112 of this title.

243 (c) *Dissemination of policy and accountability.* —

244 (1) Each school district and charter school shall adopt the policy consistent with subsection (b) of this section  
245 and submit a copy to the ~~Delaware~~ Department of Education by ~~January 1, 2008,~~ January 1 of each year, or by January  
246 1 of a newly approved charter school's first year of operation. For purposes of this paragraph, "submit" includes  
247 providing access to the policy via the school district's or charter school's website. Each school district and charter  
248 school shall submit a revised policy to the Department of Education within 30 calendar days of a school district's or  
249 charter school's revision. The Department of Education shall review a policy or a revised policy submitted under this  
250 paragraph for compliance with state and federal law.

251 (2) ~~The policy shall appear~~ Each school district and charter school shall include the policy adopted under  
252 subsection (b) of this section in the student and staff ~~handbook and if~~ handbook. If no handbook is available, or if it is  
253 not practical to reprint new handbooks, each school district and charter school shall distribute a copy of the policy ~~will~~  
254 ~~be distributed~~ annually to all students, parents, ~~faculty~~ faculty, and staff. ~~The~~ Each school district and charter school  
255 shall provide the telephone number of the Department of Justice School Ombudsperson ~~shall be provided~~ in writing to  
256 parents, students, ~~faculty and staff,~~ faculty, and staff and ~~shall be~~ provide the telephone number on the school district's  
257 or charter school's website and the website of each school and in the school district. ~~The contact information shall also~~  
258 ~~be~~ Each school district shall prominently display the telephone number of the Department of Justice School

259 Ombudsperson prominently displayed in each school in the school district. Each charter school shall prominently  
260 display the telephone number of the Department of Justice School Ombudsperson in the school.

261 ~~(3) The policy shall be submitted to the Delaware Department of Education by January 1 of each subsequent~~  
262 ~~year. Access to the policy via the district or charter school's website will meet the criteria as being submitted. Revision~~  
263 ~~or revisions to an existing district or charter school policy shall be submitted to the Department within 30 days of a~~  
264 ~~district's school board or charter school's board of directors approval of the revision or revisions. The Department shall~~  
265 ~~review such policy or revision or revisions to policy for compliance with state and federal law and regulations~~  
266 ~~promulgated by the Department of Education.~~

267 (4) The Delaware Department of Education shall prepare an annual report, which shall must include a  
268 summary of all reported and all substantiated incidences of bullying, ~~and shall include~~ a summary of the information  
269 gathered ~~pursuant to~~ under paragraph (b)(2)f. of this section section, and the results of audits conducted ~~pursuant to~~  
270 under paragraph (d)(4) of this section. ~~This report shall be posted on the Delaware Department of Education's website~~  
271 The Department shall post the report required by this subsection on its website.

272 (d) *Duties of the Department of Education.* —

273 (1) The ~~Delaware~~ Department of Education shall collaborate with the ~~Delaware~~ Department of Justice to  
274 ~~develop~~ identify and maintain a model policy, ~~that may change from time to time~~, that is applicable to kindergarten  
275 through grade 12, and post this policy, along with the contact information for the School Ombudsperson, on their  
276 websites in order to assist the school districts and charter schools. In addition, the Department of Education shall  
277 promulgate a uniform cyberbullying policy, which shall be based upon a model prepared by the Department of Justice  
278 and public comment upon that model. ~~This uniform cyberbullying policy shall be formally adopted as written by each~~  
279 ~~charter school and school district within 90 days of becoming final~~ Each school district and charter school shall adopt  
280 the Department's uniform cyberbullying policy within 90 days of the policy becoming final.

281 (2) Distribution of the Comprehensive School Discipline Improvement Program funds to a school district and  
282 charter school provided in the General Appropriations Act starting in fiscal year 2009 and thereafter is contingent upon  
283 Department of Education approval of the school district's or charter school's bullying prevention policy.

284 (3) To the extent that funding is ~~available~~ available, the State Department of Education ~~will~~ shall provide for  
285 an award system for schools with exemplary programs based on criteria promulgated by the ~~Delaware~~ Department of  
286 Education.

287 (4) The Department of Education shall conduct random audits of schools to insure compliance with  
288 paragraphs (b)(2)i. and (b)(2)k. of this section. The Department shall report the results of these audits annually in the  
289 report required by paragraph (c)(4) of this section.

290 (e) *Immunity.* — A school district or charter school employee, school district or charter school ~~volunteer~~ volunteer,  
291 or student is individually immune from a cause of action for damages arising from reporting bullying in good faith and to  
292 the appropriate person ~~or persons~~ using the procedures specified in the ~~school district and charter school's~~ school district's  
293 or charter school's bullying prevention policy, but there ~~shall be~~ is no such immunity if the act of reporting constituted  
294 gross negligence ~~and/or~~ or reckless, ~~wilful~~ wilfull, or intentional conduct.

295 (f) *Other defenses.* —

296 (1) The physical location or time of access of a technology-related incident is not a valid defense in any  
297 disciplinary action by the school district or charter school initiated under this section provided there is sufficient school  
298 nexus.

299 (2) This section does not apply to any person who uses data or computer software that is accessed through a  
300 computer, computer system, computer ~~network~~ network, or other electronic technology when acting within the scope  
301 of that person's lawful employment or investigation of a violation of this section in accordance with school district or  
302 charter school policy.

303 (g) *Relationship to ~~school-crime-reporting-law~~ reporting requirements.* — An incident may meet the definition of  
304 bullying and also the definition of a particular crime under state or federal law. Nothing in this section or in the policies  
305 promulgated as a result ~~thereof shall prevent~~ of this section prevents school officials from fulfilling all of the reporting  
306 requirements of § 4112 of this ~~title,~~ title or from reporting probable crimes that occur on school property or at a school  
307 function which are not required to be reported under ~~that section~~ § 4112 of this title. Nothing in this section ~~shall abrogate~~  
308 abrogates the reporting requirements for child abuse or sexual abuse set forth in Chapter 9 of Title ~~16,~~ 16 or any other  
309 reporting requirement under state or federal law.

310 (h) *Rules and regulations.* — ~~Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the Delaware Department of~~  
311 ~~Education may promulgate rules and regulations necessary to implement this section. [Repealed.]~~

312 § 4124 § 4165. Suicide awareness and prevention.

313 (a) ~~Each local education agency shall ensure that its public school employees receive combined training each year~~  
314 ~~totaling 90 minutes on suicide prevention. The training materials shall be evidence based and developed and/or approved by~~  
315 ~~the~~ Suicide prevention training program. - The Department of Health and Social Services, the Department of Services for  
316 Children, Youth and their Families Families, and the Department of Education shall identify and maintain a suicide

317 prevention training program for school district and charter school employees that is evidence-based, whenever available.  
318 ~~Any in-service training required by this section shall be provided within the contracted school year as provided in § 1305(e)~~  
319 ~~of this title.~~

320 (b) Swicide prevention policy. - Each ~~local education agency~~ school district and charter school shall establish a  
321 policy which shall require ~~but not be limited to~~ , at a minimum, all of the following:

322 (1) Recognition of the serious problem of youth suicide.

323 (2) The development of a suicide prevention program.

324 (3) That each school within a ~~local education agency~~ school district and each charter school establish a  
325 committee that is responsible for coordinating the suicide prevention program within that school.

326 (4) A statement prohibiting retaliation against ~~an~~ a school district or charter school employee, a school district  
327 or charter school volunteer or student for reporting the warning signs of suicide.

328 (5) That a procedure be established for the confidential and anonymous reporting of the warning signs of  
329 suicide.

330 (6) That a procedure be established for communication between school staff members and medical  
331 professionals who are involved in treating students for suicide issues.

332 (c) Accountability. - Each ~~local education agency~~ school district and charter school shall adopt the policy required  
333 by subsection (b) of this section and shall submit a copy to the ~~Delaware~~ Department of Education by September 1, 2016  
334 and by September 1 of a newly approved charter school's first year of operation. ~~Any policy changes shall be provided~~  
335 Each school district and charter school shall provide any changes to the policy to the Department within 60 calendar days.  
336 ~~For any local education agency opening after September 1, 2016, the policy shall be provided by September 1 of the year~~  
337 ~~the local education agency opens.~~

338 (d) Dissemination of policy. - ~~The policy adopted pursuant to~~ Each school district and charter school shall ensure  
339 that the policy adopted under this section shall appear appears in the student and staff handbook and on its website ~~the~~  
340 ~~website of each local education agency.~~

341 (e) Immunity. - A school district or charter school employee, school district or charter school ~~volunteer~~ volunteer,  
342 or student is individually immune from a cause of action for damages arising from reporting warning signs of suicide to the  
343 appropriate person ~~or persons~~ using the procedures specified in the ~~local education agency's~~ school district's or charter  
344 school's suicide prevention policy, but there ~~shall be~~ is no such immunity if the act of reporting constituted gross  
345 negligence ~~and/or~~ or reckless, ~~willful~~ willful, or intentional conduct.

346 § 4112E § 4166. School Teen Dating Violence and Sexual Assault Act Teen dating violence and sexual assault  
347 awareness and prevention.

348 (a) *Definitions.*— ~~The following words, terms and phrases when used in this section shall have the meaning~~  
349 ~~ascribed to them except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning;~~

350 (1) *"Sexual assault."*— ~~As used in this section, "sexual assault" means any unwanted sexual behavior committed~~  
351 ~~by a perpetrator who is a stranger to the victim or by a perpetrator who is known by the victim or related to the victim by~~  
352 ~~blood, marriage or civil union. Behaviors that fall under this definition include but are not limited to: sexual harassment as~~  
353 ~~defined in § 763 of Title 11; sexual contact as defined in § 761 Title 11; sexual intercourse as defined in § 761 of Title 11;~~  
354 ~~sexual penetration as defined in § 761 of Title 11; and child sexual abuse as defined in § 901 of Title 10.~~

355 (2) *"Teen dating violence."*— ~~As used in this section, "teen dating violence" means assaultive, threatening or~~  
356 ~~controlling behavior, including stalking as defined in § 1312 of Title 11, that 1 person uses against another person in order~~  
357 ~~to gain or maintain power or control in a current or past relationship. The behavior can occur in both heterosexual and same~~  
358 ~~sex relationships, and in serious or casual relationships. *Teen dating violence and sexual assault training program.* – The~~  
359 ~~*Delaware Domestic Violence Coordinating Council shall identify and maintain a teen dating violence and sexual assault*~~  
360 ~~*training program for school administrators, school nurses, and school counselors serving one or more of the grades in grade*~~  
361 ~~*7 through 12.*~~

362 (b) *Teen dating violence and sexual assault policies.* — ~~Each school district and charter school serving any grades~~  
363 ~~serving one or more of the grades in grade 7 through 12 shall establish a policy for responding to teen dating violence and~~  
364 ~~sexual assault, which at a minimum, shall include that includes, at a minimum, all of the following components:~~

365 (1) Definitions of teen dating violence and sexual assault, the behaviors which constitute ~~each~~ each, and the  
366 consequences for committing ~~offenses;~~ offenses.

367 (2) Guidelines on mandatory reporting and confidentiality as required by ~~statute, district policy, and charter~~  
368 ~~school policy;~~ the law of this State and school district or charter school policy.

369 (3) A protocol for responding to incidents of teen dating violence and sexual assault which ~~shall include, but~~  
370 ~~is not limited to~~ includes all of the following:

371 a. Procedures regarding initial ~~response;~~ response.

372 b. Procedures for reporting incidents of teen dating violence and sexual assault when a report is ~~required;~~  
373 required.

374 c. Procedures for the documentation of ~~incidents;~~ incidents.

375 d. Procedures for working with ~~victims;~~ victims.

376 e. Procedures for working with perpetrators.

377 ~~(e) Each school district and charter school shall ensure that its administrator(s), school nurses(s) and school~~  
378 ~~counselor(s) in schools serving any grade 7 through 12 receive teen dating violence and sexual assault policies and protocol~~  
379 ~~training during their first year of assignment as an administrator, school nurse or school counselor in 1 of those schools and~~  
380 ~~at least once in every 3-year period thereafter. The training materials and trainings shall be developed and provided by the~~  
381 ~~Delaware Domestic Violence Coordinating Council. Any in-service training required by this section shall be provided~~  
382 ~~within the contracted school year as provided in § 1305(e) of this title. [Repealed.]~~

383 (d) Each school district and charter school shall ensure existing health standard programming related to  
384 comprehensive healthy relationships, based on the Health Standards adopted by the Delaware Department of Education as  
385 approved by the State Board of Education, is provided in health education programs or related classes. The Domestic  
386 Violence Coordinating Council shall have the authority to review and advise on the implementation of school district  
387 policies and charter school policies related to teen dating violence and sexual assault.

388 (e) *Dissemination of policy and accountability.* —

389 (1) Each school district and charter school shall adopt a policy consistent with subsection (b) of this section.  
390 Following review by the Domestic Violence Coordinating Council, each school district and charter school shall submit  
391 a copy to the Delaware Department of Education by January 5, 2015, or by January 5 of a newly approved charter  
392 school's first year of operation.

393 (2) ~~The policy shall appear~~ Each school district and charter school shall ensure that its policy adopted under  
394 subsection (b) of this section appears in the student and staff handbook and if handbook. If no handbook is available, or  
395 if it is not practical to reprint new handbooks, each school district and charter school shall ensure that a copy of the  
396 policy shall be is distributed annually to all students, parents, faculty faculty, and staff.

397 (3) The Delaware Department of Education shall prepare an annual report, which shall include a summary of  
398 reported incidences of teen dating violence and sexual assault. ~~The report shall be submitted~~ Department shall submit  
399 the report to the Domestic Violence Coordinating Council by August 1 of each year.

400 (f) *Immunity.* — A school ~~district or charter school~~ employee, school volunteer district or charter school volunteer,  
401 or student is individually immune from a cause of action for damages arising from reporting teen dating violence and/or or  
402 sexual assault in good faith and to the appropriate person or persons using the procedures specified in the school district or  
403 charter school's school district's or charter school's teen dating violence and sexual assault policy, but there shall be is no  
404 such immunity if the act of reporting constituted gross negligence and/or or reckless, wilful wilful, or intentional conduct.

405 (g) ~~Relationship to school-crime reporting reporting requirements.~~ — Nothing in this section or in the policies  
406 promulgated as a result thereof shall prevent of this section prevents school officials from fulfilling all of the reporting  
407 requirements of § 4112 of this title, title or from reporting probable crimes that occur on school property or at a school  
408 function which are not required to be reported under that section. For purposes of this subsection, “school property” and  
409 “school function” mean as defined in § 4112 of this title. Nothing in this section abrogates the reporting requirements for  
410 child abuse or sexual abuse set forth in Chapter 9 of Title 16 or any other reporting requirement under state or federal law.

411 (h) ~~Nothing in this section shall abrogate the reporting requirements for child abuse or sexual abuse set forth in~~  
412 ~~Chapter 9 of Title 16, or any other reporting requirement under state or federal law.~~

413 (i) ~~Rules and regulations.~~ — ~~Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, the Delaware Department of~~  
414 ~~Education may promulgate rules and regulations necessary to implement this section. [Repealed.]~~

415 (j) *Short title.* — This section shall be known and may be cited as the “Liane Sorenson Act.”

416 § 4167. Regulatory authority.

417 The Department of Education may promulgate regulations necessary to implement and enforce this chapter.

418 Section 6. Amend § 4123, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
419 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

420 § 4123. Child abuse detection; reporting training. [Repealed.]

421 (a) ~~Each public school shall ensure that each full-time teacher receives 1 hour of training every year in detection~~  
422 ~~and reporting of child abuse. This training, and all materials used in such training, shall be prepared by the Division of~~  
423 ~~Family Services.~~

424 (b) ~~Any in-service training required by this section shall be provided within the contracted school year as provided~~  
425 ~~in § 1305(e) of this title.~~

426 Section 7. Amend § 4123A, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
427 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

428 § 4123A. School bullying prevention and criminal youth gang detection training. [Repealed.]

429 (a) ~~Each school district and charter school shall ensure that its public school employees receive combined training~~  
430 ~~each year totaling 1 hour in the identification and reporting of criminal youth gang activity pursuant to § 617 of Title 11 and~~  
431 ~~bullying prevention pursuant to § 4112D of this title. The training materials shall be prepared by the Department of Justice~~  
432 ~~and the Department of Education in collaboration with law enforcement agencies, the Delaware State Education~~  
433 ~~Association, the Delaware School Boards Association and the Delaware Association of School Administrators.~~

434 (b) ~~Any in-service training required by this section shall be provided within the contracted school year as provided~~  
435 ~~in § 1305(e) of this title.~~

436 Section 8. Amend § 4123B, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
437 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

438 § 4123B. ~~Posting child abuse and neglect telephone report line.~~ [Transferred to § 4163(g) of this title.]

439 (a) ~~Each public school, including charter schools, shall post, in a conspicuous location where notices to students~~  
440 ~~are customarily posted, the number for the toll-free telephone report line for child abuse and neglect as established pursuant~~  
441 ~~to § 905 of Title 16. The posting shall be made in English and Spanish and shall be made in a format and language that is~~  
442 ~~clear, simple, and understandable to students.~~

443 (b) ~~There is no private right of action for violation of this section.~~

444 Section 9. Amend § 402, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
445 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

446 § 402. Definitions.

447 For the purposes of this chapter, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

448 (2) "Good cause" ~~shall mean~~ means a change in a child's residence due to a change in family residence, a  
449 change in the state in which the family residence is located, a change in a child's parent's marital status, a change  
450 caused by a guardianship proceeding, placement of a child in foster care, adoption, participation by a child in a foreign  
451 exchange program, a reported, recorded, and substantiated instance of "bullying" against their child as defined in §  
452 ~~4112D of this title~~ § 4161 of this title, or participation by a child in a substance abuse or mental health treatment  
453 program, or a set of circumstances consistent with this definition of "good cause."

454 Section 10. Amend § 407, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
455 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

456 § 407. Duration of enrollment in receiving district.

457 (a)(1) A pupil accepted for enrollment in a school or program pursuant to this chapter shall be entitled to remain  
458 enrolled therein until graduation from the school or completion of the program provided that the pupil continues to meet the  
459 requirements for such school or program, provided however, that upon the concurrence of the boards of both the district of  
460 residence and the receiving district, a pupil's right to remain enrolled may be terminated prior to graduation from or  
461 completion of the program where such termination is based upon the pupil's

462 (2) A pupil accepted for enrollment in a school or program pursuant to this chapter shall remain enrolled  
463 therein for a minimum of 2 years unless, during that 2-year period,



464 g. The pupil's parents or guardians wish to terminate the agreement due to a reported, recorded, and  
465 substantiated instance of "bullying" against their child as defined in ~~§ 4112D of this title~~ § 4161 of this title.

466 Section 11. Amend § 506, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
467 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

468 § 506. Restrictions.

469 (d) A pupil accepted for enrollment in a charter school pursuant to this chapter shall remain enrolled therein for a  
470 minimum of 1 year unless, during that 1-year period, good cause exists for the failure to meet this requirement. For  
471 purposes of this section only, "good cause" shall be defined as a change in a child's residence due to a change in family  
472 residence, a change in the state in which the family residence is located, a change in the marital status of the child's parents,  
473 a change caused by a guardianship proceeding, placement of a child in foster care, adoption, participation by a child in a  
474 foreign exchange program, participation by a child in a substance abuse or mental health treatment program, a reported,  
475 recorded and substantiated instance of "bullying" against their child as defined in ~~§ 4112D of this title~~ § 4161 of this title,  
476 mutual agreement by the board of directors of the charter school, the board of the receiving district and the parent or parents  
477 or guardian of such child to the termination of such enrollment, or a set of circumstances consistent with this definition of  
478 "good cause."

479 Section 12. Amend § 4112A, Title 14 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
480 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

481 § 4112A. Office of School Criminal Offense and Bullying Ombudsperson.

482 (b) The purpose of the Ombudsperson is to ensure the proper administration of the school criminal offense  
483 reporting law contained in § 4112 of this title and the school bullying prevention law contained in ~~§ 4112D of this title~~ §  
484 4161 of this title.

485 Section 13. Amend § 2515, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and  
486 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

487 § 2515. Exceptions.

488 (c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this title, a public school district or charter school that is a defendant in  
489 a legal action because of its adoption or use of the cyberbullying policy required under ~~§ 4112D(d)(1) of Title 14~~ §  
490 4164(d)(1) of Title 14 shall have the option of being represented by the Department of Justice if:

491 (1) The State of Delaware or 1 of its agencies is a party to the same action based upon the State's requirement  
492 that the district or school adopt the cyberbullying policy at issue;

493 (2) The Department's representation of both entities is permissible under the Rules of Professional Conduct;  
494 and

495 (3) The Department determines that enforcement of the cyberbullying policy by the school or district was  
496 done in good faith and in the public interest.

497 Communications and documents regarding the Department's obligation to represent a school or district under this  
498 subsection and/or a school or district's decision whether to accept representation by the Department are privileged and not  
499 subject to disclosure.

500 Section 14. If this Act is enacted before August 1, 2017, this Act, except § 4163(b)(2) of Title 14 as contained in  
501 this Act, takes effect on August 1 following its enactment into law. If this Act is enacted on or after August 1, 2017, this  
502 Act, except § 4163(b)(2) of Title 14 as contained in this Act, takes effect upon enactment.

503 Section 15. Section 4163(b)(2) of Title 14 as contained in this Act takes effect on August 1, 2019.

#### SYNOPSIS

This Act consolidates Delaware law related to child abuse and child sexual abuse training and detection, suicide prevention, bullying, criminal youth gang detection, and teen dating violence and sexual assault into one subchapter of Chapter 41, Title 14 of the Delaware Code and develops a non-academic training program that coordinates the trainings school district and charter school employees are required to receive. In addition to streamlining non-academic trainings, this Act provides school districts and charter schools with flexibility to meet current and future non-academic training needs of school district and charter school employees, students, and parents. This Act applies to all public schools, including charter schools and vocational technical schools.

This Act also makes technical corrections to conform existing law to the standards of the Delaware Legislative Drafting Manual, ensure consistency within the new subchapter, and make references throughout the Code consistent based changes to certain Code designations made by this Act.

Author: Senator Henry